IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PATRICK ANTHONY REYNOLDS,

Petitioner, :

v. : CASE NO. 75,680

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent: :

AUG 6 1990

LERK, SALEM COUNT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER #0513253 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904)488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN PERMITTING THE EXCLUSION OF A BLACK JUROR ON THE STATE'S PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE OVER PETITION-ER'S NEIL OBJECTION.

This case raises the issue of what is required to establish a prima facie case of racial discrimination against a juror sufficient to trigger a <u>Neil</u> inquiry, where the defendant is black, and the only black prospective juror is peremptorily challenged by the state.

The district court below certified conflict with Parrish
and Pearson on the issue whether excluding the sole black juror is sufficient to establish a prima facie case of a likelihood of racial discrimination. Pearson v. State, 514 So.2d 374

(Fla. 2d DCA 1987, review dism., 525 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1988);

Parrish v. State, 540 So.2d 870 (Fla. 3d DCA), review den.
State v. Parrish, 549 So.2d 1014 (Fla. 1989). The answer to this question is yes, but the issue is not as simple as that.

The district court's far more fundamental misapprehension here was in its failure to discern the consequences of the trial court's erroneous ruling accepting the systematic exclusion standard.

In <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla 1984), <u>clarified sub</u> <u>nom. State v. Castillo</u>, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986), this court recognized that the need to protect against unconstitutional racial bias in the selection of jurors included examining the state's use of peremptory challenges. In Slappy, the court

said the Neil decision "preceded, foreshadowed and exceeds" the federal guarantees set out in Batson v. Kentucky. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986); State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18, 20-21 (Fla.), cert. den. 487 U.S. ____, 108 S.Ct. 2873, 101 L.Ed.2d 909 (1988) (approving Slappy v. State, 503 So.2d 350 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)). The Slappy decision sets out the Neil test for bias in greater detail.

In <u>Slappy</u>, the supreme court said that the "ancient tradition" of peremptory challenges

••• is to some degree inconsistent with the requirements of the Florida and federal constitutions. We thus cannot permit the peremptory's use when it results in the exclusion of persons from jury service due to constitutionally impermissible prejudice. To the extent of the inconsistency, the constitutional principles must prevail, notwithstanding the traditionally unlimited scope of the peremptory.

Id. at 20.

To trigger a <u>Neil</u> challenge, a party must make a timely objection to the questionable peremptory challenge and demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood they have been challenged solely because of their race. <u>Neil</u>, 457 So.2d at 486. The district court below held there was no error in failing to conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry here because petitioner failed to make the prima facie showing there was a strong likelihood the sole black prospective juror was excused solely because of her race. Petitioner disagrees with the

district court's analysis and submits that he did make a prima facie case of discrimination.

While petitioner is black (R-1), only one black person, Ms. Dean, was among the 17 veniremen from whom was selected the jury which tried him. The state used a peremptory challenge to exclude Ms. Dean. When petitioner asked the court to require the state to give reasons for excluding her, the state argued no Neil inquiry was necessary because there had been no systematic exclusion of minorities. The trial court agreed with the necessity of showing systematic exclusion and did not require the prosecutor to state reasons for excluding Ms. Dean (T-37-38). The court erred reversibly in failing to make the appropriate inquiry.

In <u>Parrish</u> and <u>Pearson</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Second and Third District Courts of Appeal held that where the sole black juror was excused peremptorily from the trial of a black defendant, the defendants had made a prima facie showing of racial discrimination sufficient to trigger a <u>Neil</u> inquiry. In <u>Parrish</u>, the Third District held that striking the only black member of the venire in itself "demonstrated a strong likelihood that the juror was rejected on racial grounds.'' <u>Parrish</u>, 540 So.2d at 871. Similarly, in Pearson, the Second District Court held:

•••that the appellant established a prima facie case of racial discrimination violative of the fourteenth amendment based on the state's use of a peremptory challenge to strike the only representative of the appellant's race from the jury venire and that the burden shifted to the state to come forward with a neutral explanation for its challenge.

514 So.2d at 375. The Pearson court added:

As observed by the court in the only case we have found dealing with the striking of the only member of of the defendant's race from the jury, the result is the same regardless of number - no members of the defendant's race are left on the jury, and the prosecution should be required to explain the reasons for its peremptory challenge when that result occurs. (emphasis added)

Id. at 376, citing <u>United States v. Chalan</u>, 812 F.2d 1302, 1314 (10th Cir. 1987). The <u>Parrish</u> court had also noted that "[t]here was no indication that the challenged juror would be partial or unfair." 540 So.2d at 871.

This principle is also deducible from this court's opinion in <u>Blackshear v. State</u>, **521** So.2d **1083**, **1084** (Fla. **1988**), in which this court noted that at the time of the defense objection, "not a single black member remained on the prospective panel." The fact the prosecutor here could effect the very same complete and systematic exclusion of blacks from the jury by exercising only one peremptory, while the prosecutor in <u>Blackshear</u> had to exercise eight peremptory challenges to accomplish the same disapproved goal does not vitiate the principle.

Moreover, in holding that a white defendant had standing to challenge the improper exclusion of black jurors, this court said in Kibler v. State, **546** So.2d **710**, 712 (Fla. **1989**):

We hold that under article I, section 16 of the Florida Constitution it is unnecessary that the defendant who objects to peremptory challenges directed to members of a cognizable racial group be of the same race as the jurors who are being challenged.

This does not mean, however, that the respective race of the challenged jurors and of the person who objects to the challenges may not be relevant in the determination of whether t'e challenges are being unconstitutionally exercised because of group bias. Under the procedure prescribed by Neil, the objecting party must ordinarily do more than simply show that several members of a cognizable racial group have been challenged in order to meet his initial burden. Thus, a defendant of a different race than the jurors being challenged may have more difficulty convincing the trial court that "there is a substantial likelihood that they have been challenged only because of their race." Moreover, in those cases in which the inquiry has been directed to the challenging party, the respective races of the challenged jurors and the defendant may also be relevant in the determination of whether the challenging party has met the burden of showing that the challenges were made for reasons not solely related to race. (citation omitted)

The corollary to the principle that the defendant has a heavier burden when he and the jurors are of different races is that the defendant's burden must be somewhat lighter when he is, as was Reynolds here, the same race as the challenged juror. Further, this court has also held that any doubt as to whether the moving party has met the burden should be resolved in that party's favor. Slappy; see also Parrish; Johnson v. State, 537 So.2d 117 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). If there were any doubt here that petitioner had made the prima facie showing, that doubt was to be resolved in his favor.

It would take only a slight extension of <u>Blackshear</u> to find that where not only <u>all</u> black prospective jurors, but the <u>only</u> black prospective juror, has been peremptorily challenged by the state in the criminal trial of a black defendant, and

where the record contains no obvious reason for disqualification, that the defendant has made the prima facie showing which triggers the <u>Neil</u> inquiry. The issue is not, however, as simple as that. The district court's far more fundamental misapprehension here was in its failure to discern the consequences of the trial court's erroneous ruling accepting the systematic exclusion standard.

The trial court accepted the state's argument that no Neil inquiry was necessary because there had been no "systematic exclusion" of blacks from the jury. This was, of course, erroneous. There is no requirement that systematic exclusion be shown. Rather, the mere number of excusals is not dispositive of the issue, and the record here is quite sufficient to demonstrate reversible error. In Slappy this court recognized that:

even the fact that a member of the minority in question has been seated as a juror or alternate.

522 So. 2d at 21, citing United States v. Gordon, 817 F. 2d 1538, 1541 (11th Cir. 1987), vacated in part on other grounds on rehearing 836 F. 2d 1312 (11th Cir.), cert. dism. 487 U.S. 1265, 109 S.Ct. 28, 101 L.Ed. 2d 979 (1988); United States v. David, 803 F. 2d 1567, 1571 (11th Cir. 1986); Fleming v. Kemp, 794 F. 2d 1478 (11th Cir.), cert. den. 475 U.S. 1058, 106 S.Ct. 1295, 89 L.Ed. 2d 593 (1986); Neil; Pearson; Floyd v. State, 511 So. 2d 752 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), review den. 545 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1989). See also Davis v. Georgia, 429 U.S. 122, 97 S.Ct. 399, 50

L.Ed.2d 339 (1976) (improper exclusion of a single prospective juror with only a general objection to the death penalty tainted death sentence and constituted reversible error).

The improper exclusion of even a single black prospective juror triggers the inquiry requirement, and the court's failure to conduct an inquiry constitutes reversible error. In United States v. Horsley, 864 F.2d 1543 (11th Cir. 1989), the government peremptorily challenged the only black on a 32-person venire. Asked the reason for the challenge, the prosecutor said he did not have any particular reason, but had a feeling about him as he had about Mr. Gonzalez and several others. prosecutor did not question the black venireman, who had not given answers different from others on the venire panel. appellate court pointed out that, by comparison with the black venireman's neutral answers, Mr. Gonzalez testified, inter alia, he had once been a witness at trial, had once been subject to a criminal charge, and had a family member who had been convicted of a crime and served time in prison.

Nevertheless, the federal district court interpreted Bat-
son as requiring a showing of a pattern of discriminatory
peremptory challenges, and as the single challenge did not
constitute such a pattern, ruled that the prosecutor's use of
peremptories did not rise to the stature of a constitutional
violation. The appellate court said that while Batson had
noted that a pattern of strikes against black jurors might be a
relevant circumstance to consider, that example was "merely
illustrative,'' and held, once again, that number alone was not

dispositive of a challenge to the discriminatory use of peremptory challenges.

This court has said the issue is not whether several jurors have been excused because of their race, but whether any juror has been so excused, independent of any other. This is so because,

the striking of a single black juror for a racial reason violates the Equal Protection Clause, even where other black jurors are seated, and even when there are valid reasons for the striking of some black jurors.

Slappy, 522 So.2d at 21, quoting Gordon, 817 F.2d at 1541.

Accord, David; Fleming; Pearson; Floyd.

The failure of a trial court to conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry when the exclusion of even a single black prospective juror has been challenged is reversible error. For example, in <u>Sampson v. State</u>, 542 So.2d 434 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), one black juror was excused for arguably race-neutral reasons. No such reasons appear in the record to support the exclusion of a second black juror. The defendant challenged the exclusion of the second black prospective juror. The district court said the judge "should have conducted an inquiry into the state's basis for excusing her." As no inquiry was conducted,

the state never met its burden of rebutting the inference that Ms. Francis was peremptorily challenged for constitutionally impermissible reasons. We reverse and remand for a new trial.

Id.

In <u>Stubbs v. State</u>, 540 So.2d 255 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), the defense challenged the exclusion of Mr. Chambers, a black

prospective juror. An elderly black venireman, Mr. Lawton, was later seated on the jury. Defense counsel argued the state excluded Mr. Chambers because he was a black man about the same age as the defendant. The trial judge interrupted defense counsel's argument and refused to conduct any further inquiry, stating that there was a black person on the jury and "no showing of systematic exclusion" of black men. The district court held,

the trial judge misapprehended the law. She mistakenly believed that no discrimination could be shown, because there was a black man on the jury. Batson, however, recognized that the state is prohibited from exercising a peremptory challenge "to strike any black juror because of his race."

Id. at 820. The cause was reversed and remanded for new trial.

In <u>Pickett v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 115 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), there were five black prospective jurors in the venire, of whom two had been struck for cause, three peremptorily excused by the state, and one remained on the jury. The trial court concluded that:

the defense's objection did not meet "the necessary prerequisite for a showing that they (the state) have utilized peremptories solely for the purpose of excluding black jurors..." No hearing was conducted nor were any inquiries directed to the state for the purpose of determining whether its challenges were motivated by impermissible reasons.

Id at 116. The district court held that "the trial court erred in failing to conduct a timely inquiry that would require

the state to offer specific reasons for the use of its peremptory challenges," and reversed for a trial.

The trial court's application of the wrong standard here had the effect of cutting off petitioner's attempt to make a prima facie showing of a likelihood of racial discrimination in the state's use of peremptory challenges. Petitioner believes he succeeded in establishing a prima facie case, but even if this court disagreed, the trial court's erroneous ruling cut off any further attempt, and any deficiency in the prima facie showing cannot be held against him.

Systematic exclusion, if it were the correct standard, would require a preliminary showing of multiple excusals of black jurors before the court would ever need to address the reason why the jurors were excused. In other words, the defense would have to prove multiple exclusions of minority jurors before it ever got to the point of establishing that the jurors were excluded solely because of their race. The erroneous ruling here cuts off any further attempt to make the prima facie showing because the trial court has already ruled, in essence, that no showing of improper exclusion as to a single juror would be sufficient.

The district court's opinion significantly misapprehended the effect of this erroneous ruling. The district court said:

And the fact that the trial court may have erroneously stated that the defense was required to show a "systematic exclusion" of blacks will not cure the defendant's failure to meet his initial burden.

Reynolds, 555 So.2d at 919. The district court put the cart before the horse. If petitioner failed to make a prima facie showing, it was not only "cured by," it was caused by, the trial court's erroneous ruling on a preliminary matter, which cut off any further inquiry.

The district court would place an impossible burden on the defense, since the systematic (or multiple) exclusion question is preliminary to the issue whether the state had permissible grounds for exclusion. The district court found the prima facie showing deficient where the trial court never addressed its sufficiency. When the trial court never addresses the issue, how is a defendant to predict it is he, and not the trial court, which will be found wanting? The district court would require the defendant to continue to make a prima facie case even after the court has ruled that the attempt is hopeless as to a single juror because there was no systematic exclusion. This is an impossible standard and contrary to the principle of Neil and Slappy. If there was a deficiency in the prima facie showing here, though petitioner believes there was not, it was due to the trial court's erroneous ruling, not to any failure on the part of petitioner.

Parrish is similar to the instant case in this respect. When Parrish asked for a <u>Neil</u> inquiry, the trial judge said: "I don't think it reaches the level of a Neil inquiry of striking a singular black juror." 540 So.2d at 871. He then permitted the state to strike the sole prospective black juror. The district court did not discuss the trial court's application of

the erroneous systematic exclusion standard, but held that where the sole prospective black juror was excused, and there "was no indication that the challenged juror would be partial or unfair," and because any doubt as to whether the burden had been met was to be resolved in the party's favor, the defense had met the burden of establishing a prima facie case, and the trial court erred in failing to conduct the <u>Neil</u> inquiry.

The district court distinguished the instant case from Jennings v. State, 545 So.2d 945 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), but the claimed distinction is not apparent from that opinion. In Reynolds, the district court distinguished Jennings on the ground the trial court there "had found that the defendant had met his initial burden under Neil except for the fact the state had excused only one black prospective juror." 555 So.2d at 919. What the court said in Jennings, however, was:

The trial court in this case concluded that, since the State had peremptorily challenged only one black juror, the defendant had not met its initial burden and, therefore, that no <u>Neil</u> inquiry was required.

545 So.2d at 946. The trial court's holding in <u>Jennings</u> Is virtually indistinguishable from the trial court's holding here.

Further, assuming arguendo that the trial court's ruling could be said to have been right for the wrong reason, that principle does not apply when the trial court misconceives the controlling principle of law, and the court's misconception can constitute grounds for reversal. Applegate v. Barnett Bank of

Tallahassee, 377 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1979); Flagship National Bank w. Gray Distribution Systems, Inc., 485 So.2d 1336 (Fla. 3d DCA), review den. 497 So.2d 1217 (Fla. 1986); Delehant v. Delehant, 383 So.2d 231 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979). The trial court's erroneous ruling here on the need for systematic exclusion cut off further inquiry into whether petitioner had established a prima facie showing probable racial discrimination. This was reversible error.

When the defendant objects to the state's discriminatory use of peremptory challenges, the burden of proof shifts to the state to rebut the inference of racial bias with a "clear and reasonably specific" racially neutral explanation of legitimate reasons for the state's use of its peremptory challenges.

Slappy, 522 So.2d at 22, citing Batson. The judge

cannot merely accept the reasons proffered at face value, but must evaluate those reasons as he or she would weigh any disputed fact. In order to permit the questioned challenge, the trial judge must conclude that the proffered reasons are, first, neutral and reasonable and, second, not a pretext.

The Florida Supreme Court approved the Third District's list of five factors,

will tend to show that the state's reasons are not actually supported by the record or are an impermissible pretext...

<u>Slappy</u>, 522 So.2d at 22. These factors are: (1) alleged group bias not shown to be shared by the juror in question, (2) failure to examine the juror or perfunctory examination, assuming neither the trial court nor opposing counsel had questioned the

juror, (3) singling out the juror for special questioning designed to evoke a certain response, (4) the prosecutor's reason is unrelated to the facts of the case, and (5) a challenge based on reasons equally applicable to jurors who were not challenged. Slappy v. State, 503 So.2d 350.

The state's exclusion of Ms. Dean from the jury falls far outside the guidelines for the prevention of racial bias set out in <u>Batson</u>, <u>Slappy</u> and <u>Neil</u>. The state engaged in only the most perfunctory questioning of Ms. Dean. All the state knew about Ms. Dean was that she was employed (as were most jurors), had not before served on a jury, was not married and had no children. As most jurors were married and had children, this made her somewhat different. Without some explanation from the state, however, as to how marriage and parenthood related to one's ability to sit as a juror, these are meaningless distinctions. Her one distinctive answer was that she had a cousin who OD'd on crack. This is not, however, a factor which selfevidently would tend to make a juror partial on the side of a defendant charged with an offense involving crack.

In <u>Parrish</u> and <u>Blackshear</u>, the courts noted there was no indication the challenged juror(s) would be unfair or partial. Here, while the district court did not expressly state a belief that Ms. Dean would be unfair or partial, it did note her answer concerning her cousin. The implication of mentioning this answer is that the First District must believe Dean was excludable under <u>Neil</u> because of it. The trial court never

considered the issue because it failed to conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry.

Fairness of a juror in this context means that she be not prejudiced against the prosecution. Contrary to the implication of the district court opinion, the relationship of one's having a relative overdose on crack to one's ability to be a fair and impartial juror is not self-evident. It provides a fact, but provides no illumination as to how that fact may have colored the views of a prospective juror. It is not in itself a fact which self-evidently and unambiguously would dispose a juror favorably towards a defendant charged with an offense involving crack, as was petitioner here.

By itself and without more inquiry, the fact a relative overdosed is at least as likely to be a pro-state quality as a pro-defense quality in a juror. There is no way to know, without asking her, whether Dean felt sympathy for the bonds of addiction which may afflict crack users, or whether she thought they should all be locked up. Had the state been required to give a reason for excluding Dean, and given the cousin's overdose as its reason, without an inquiry into how that fact would affect Ms. Dean's impartiality, it would have violated <u>Slappy</u>'s express disapproval of accepting reasons at face value. Where the trial court did not address the issue and the basis for disqualification is not apparent on the face of the record, the district court could not properly determine whether the juror was excludable under <u>Neil</u> on the basis of her one unique answer to a voir dire question.

In the instant case, while defense counsel did not use the magic words "substantial likelihood excusal was due solely to race," she did explain in detail why there was no showing that Ms. Dean would not be an impartial juror. This was sufficient to establish the prima facie case sufficient to trigger a Neil inquiry.

While only one black prospective juror was improperly excluded, she was the <u>only</u> black person ever considered for a seat on the jury. The fact that a very small number of black veniremen are called, cannot be used to eviscerate the principles of <u>Batson</u>, <u>Neil</u>, and <u>Slappy</u>.

If this court were to limit relief to those cases in which the state exercised a large number of peremptory challenges against blacks, it would effectively deny relief in the vast majority of cases where the number of black prospective jurors ever considered is itself quite small. If anything, where the number of black prospective jurors is small, this court should review the record with even more care. If the state is permitted one or two "free strikes' of black jurors, and only one or two black jurors are called, the state may engage in wholesale discrimination with impunity unless this court will reach those cases involving small numbers of prospective black jurors. In the instant case, the state did not, as in Black-shear, exercise eight peremptories against blacks, because there were not eight blacks called. Blackshear v. State, 521 So.2d 1083 (Fla. 1988).

The exclusion of Ms. Dean from the jury without inquiry blatantly violated the rec irements of Neil and Slappy.

Petitioner believes he did establish a prima facie case of a discriminatory use of a peremptory challenge, but even if this court disagrees, the trial court's erroneous ruling on the systematic exclusion standard cut off any further attempt to make out a prima facie case. The only remedy which achieves the goal of nondiscrimination in jury selection is reversal for a new trial.

VI CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, petitioner requests that this Court quash the district court opinion, and reverse his conviction and remand for new trial.

Respectfully submitted, BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER

Fla. Bar No. 0513253
Assistant Public Defender
Leon County Courthouse
301 S. Monroe - 4th Floor North
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER