FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 27 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY

Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PATRICK ANTHONY REYNOLDS,

PETITIONER,

-VS-

CASE NO. 75,680

STATE OF FLORIDA,

RESPONDENT.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

✓ EDWARD C. HILL, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
ATTORNEY NO. 238041

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee is in substantial agreement with appellant's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, which affirmed the trial court's exercise of discretion, should be approved by this court because it properly applied the legal reasoning provided by the opinions of this court.

In order to find a strong likelihood, petitioner must point to facts other than merely that an individual of petitioner's race has been peremptorily challenged. Petitioner offered no reasons to support the assertion that the strike was discriminatorily based. Further, the facts do not establish that the challenge was exercised in a discriminatory purpose. Moreover, the cases relied upon by petitioner to assert as a matter of law that the removal meets the standards are based on assumptions which have been rejected by this Court.

Therefore, respondent asserts that this Court should approve the decision of the First District Court of Appeal and affirm petitioner's conviction.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DID NOT REQUIRE THE STATE TO PROVIDE REASONS FOR PEREMPTORILY STRIKING A JUROR.

The opinion of the First District Court of Appeal, which affirmed the trial court's exercise of discretion, should be approved by this court because it properly applied the legal reasoning provided by the opinions of this court.

The three decisions of this court whose holdings are critical to the resolution of this issue are **State v. Neil**, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla.1984); **State v. Slappy**, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla.), **cert.den.**, 108 S.Ct 2873 (1988), and **Reed v. State**, 560 So.2d 703 (Fla.1990).

In **Neil**, this Court stated that, when a party establishes that there is a "strong likelihood" that a juror has been challenged solely on the basis of race the court must conduct an inquiry. **Neil** changed the law of jury selection but did not abolish peremptory challenges.

In **State v. Slappy**, this Court expanded and clarified its holding in **Neil**. Although **Slappy** deals primarily with what happens after a **Neil** "strong likelihood" is shown, this Court discussed the strong likelihood standard and stated that it does

not lend itself to precise definition. *Id.* at 21. This Court also stated that in determining the existence of a strong likelihood numbers were not dispositive, and the fact that other minority jurors were seated was not dispositive either. The court concluded that creation of a bright line test would create more havoc than use of the Neil standard and declined to create such a rule.

In **Reed, supra**, this Court revisited the strong likelihood issue and clarified the applicable standards. The court held that the trial judge is vested with broad discretion in determining whether peremptory challenges are racially motivated. In **Reed**, the court quoted from **Kibler v. State**, 546 So.2d 710, 712 (Fla.1989), and said that "under the procedure prescribed by **Neil** the objecting party must ordinarily do more than simply show that several members of a cognizable racial group have been challenged in order to meet his initial burden."

This statement from **Kibler** is consistent with the court's application of the **Neil-Slappy** standards in other cases. In **Parker v. State**, 476 So.2d 134 (Fla.1985), the court found that even though several prospective black jurors had been struck the requisite likelihood had not been established. It is consistent with the statement in **Slappy** that numbers alone are not dispositive. Moreover, these holdings are consistent with the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution which requires that the petit jury will be selected from a pool of names

representing a cross-section of the community. **Taylor v. Louisiana**, 419 U.S. 522 (1975). However, this does not mean that a petit jury actually chosen must mirror the community and reflect the various distinctive groups in the population. **Taylor, supra**. Moreover, because it has been repeatedly stated that the exclusion of a minority juror by itself is insufficient to require an inquiry, **Thomas v. State**, 502 So.2d 994 (Fla.4th DCA 1987); **Neil** at 487, and a defendant has no right to a jury composed in whole or in part of members of his own race **Strauder v. West Virginia**, 100 U.S. 303, 25 L.Ed. 664 (1880), petitioner has identified no error. For he received what he was entitled to, a process that is free from discrimination, **Batson v. Kentucky**, 476 U.S. 79, 90 L.Ed.2d 69, 90., and a way to challenge a process that isn't free from discrimination. The opinion of the First District Court is consistent with these decisions regulating the use of peremptory challenges and should be affirmed.

In Florida the initial presumption is that the challenge has been exercised in a nondiscriminatory way. **Neil**. Petitioner's argument would have this Court flip this presumption on its ear, this argument is not justified under the facts of this case.

In this case, neither the crime, possession of drugs, nor the facts of the crime created any heightened racial tensions. The facts of the case were plain vanilla, a routine traffic stop

for not having a tag, an arrest for driving on a revoked or suspended license, and the discovery of drugs during a search at the jail. The crime itself did not juxtapose a victim and a defendant of different races.

Further, the jury selection process was very routine. The state accepted the first six individuals, however the defense struck two. Out of the next group the state struck a white male and the defense struck two more. After the three replacements were added to the pool the state again accepted the jury and the defense used another peremptory. Ms. Dean was added to the pool and the state used its second peremptory challenge. The only basis the public defender offered for her claim of discrimination was that Ms. Dean was black. The public defender did state that because the lady had a relative who had overdosed on crack she felt that Ms. Dean would make a good state juror. It is interesting that petitioner could assert that a juror's relative's crack overdose is a sound basis for a defense lawyer to feel uneasy about a juror, and, not be sufficient for the state to feel unsure about the juror and strike her from the panel. Respondent asserts that the trial record supports the finding that no strong likelihood exists and that the opinion of the district court should be affirmed.¹

¹ Respondent acknowledges under other facts it may be possible to establish a strong likelihood based on the excusal of one juror. However, it was not done here.

Petitioner's reliance on **Parrish v. State**, 540 So.2d 870 (Fla.3rd DCA 1989), is misplaced. In **Parrish**, the district court relied on **Pearson v. State**, 514 So.2d 374 (Fla.2d DCA 1987), for the proposition that using a peremptory challenge to excuse the only representative of the defendant's race established a prima facie case. It then noted that the state volunteered a reason and determined that the reason was not valid. Recently, in **Adams v. State**, 559 So.2d 1293 (Fla.3rd DCA 1990), the court distinguished **Parrish** and stated that the trial judge is in the best position to determine whether there is a need for an explanation of peremptory challenges. In the instant case, the district court did just what this Court said was proper in **Reed** and did just what the district court in **Adams** did; it relied on the sound discretion of the trial judge who listened to the voir dire questions and answers. Petitioner has identified no error.

Further, respondent asserts that **Parrish's** reliance on **Pearson** is fatal to petitioner's claims. In **Pearson**, the district court held that the test found in **Batson v. Kentucky** had superceded the **Neil** test. Based on that determination, the court held that the removal of a single black juror met the **Batson** test and was reversible error. The holding of **Parrish** has been rejected by this Court which has repeatedly validated the **Neil** test for the determination of a prima facie case of discrimination. **Slappy, Reed**. Therefore, in order to adopt

petitioner's position that **Pearson** is controlling, this Court would have to overrule virtually every decision it has rendered on the use of peremptory challenges. This is totally unnecessary because the United States Supreme Court in **Batson** stated that individual states had leeway in implementing its decision, **Batson**, 90 L.Ed.2d 89, 90, and this Court has adopted a test that is more stringent than **Batson**. Therefore, as the cases cited for conflict rely on an incorrect legal premise, the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

Petitioner discusses in great detail the standard that the trial court used in making its decision. As noted by the district court, the fact that the trial court may have used the wrong standard does not impact the decision in this case. Petitioner has not established a "strong likelihood" existed. Therefore, cases such as **Blackshear v. State**, 521 So.2d 1083 (Fla.1983), where this Court required a new trial because a likelihood was established do not come into play. Neither do cases such as **Tillman v. State**, 522 So.2d 14 (Fla.1988), which require the trial court to fully evaluate reasons given by the prosecutor instead of speculating on its own. The trial court was right even if in the wrong reason, **Caso v. State**, 524 So.2d 422 (Fla.1988), and the district court's opinion should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Therefore, respondent asserts that this Court should approve the decision of the First District Court of Appeal and affirm petitioner's conviction.